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CONDITION 
ffi Excellent 

IXJ Altered 

0 Good 0 Foir 

(Check One) 

0 Unaltered 

(Check One) 

0 Deteriorated 

l 
DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (/1 known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

0 Ruins 0 Unexposed 

(Check One) 

0 Moved Qg: Original Site 

On June 8, 1870, Bishop Henry Niles Pierce described 
Trinity Episcopal Church in his personal diary: ''··· the 
Church is one hunored .[100'] feet in length and about 
thirty-eight [38 '1 feet wide. It is of brick, beautifully 
proportioned, ana' no show work about it. Take it all in 
all it will be the most beautiful Church edifice found in 
Arkansas. Its cost will be about $18,000. 11 

The exterior of this rust colored brick,Gothic style,l9th 
century church has not been changed to any appreciable 
extent since it was completed in 1870. Buttressed masonry 
walls support a roof having two pitches, steep over the 
nave and shallow over the aisles. A small vestibule has 
been added to the front entrance of the church, and a 
large extended bell tower dominates the southeast corner 
of the building. Both of these additions were made soon 
after the construction and are in harmony with the simple 
architectural style of the original church. 

A trifoil window is centered above the carved entrance 
doors which lead from the vestibule to the nave. The ceil­
ing is of white painted planks with exposed beams. Rows 
of pews flank the center aisle, along with support posts 
which are moulded, bracketed, and beveled cut. These 
posts extend into arches with quatrefoil ornamentation. 
The interior brick walls are plastered and painted to 
resemble dressed stone of varied shades of brown and beige 
and set in a random pattern. The Gothic windows along 
both outside walls contain beautiful stained glass panels, 
with each unique window dedicated as a memorial to . some 
early member of Trinity Church. 

An altar of sculptured white Carrara marble is the focal 
point of the chancel. It was carved in Florence, Italy, 
by Antonia Frilli, and contains lifesize figures in high 
relief of Christ, Moses and Saint Paul. Some of the nine­
teenth century furnishings include a marble baptismal 
font, an elaborately carved walnut pulpit and a brass 
processional cross. 

The chancel is e5.pecially significant among Arkansas 
churches in that it is built above a tomb. While this 
practice is rather common in European churches, it is 
rare in America, and unique in Arkansas. Buried beneath 
the chancel is Cornelia Bell Roane. Before her death in 
1862, she had requested that her remains be interred 
under the altar of the proposed church. The request of 
this faithful member was granted, and her unique tomb 
has lain undisturbed for over a hundred years. 
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PERIOD (Check One or More as Appropriate) 

0 Pre-Columbian I 0 16th Century 

0 15th Century 0 17th Century 

l ·sPECIFI C DATE(S) (IIA Appli'cable and Known) 

AREAS OF SIGN I Fl CANCE (Check One or More as A .ppropriate) 

Aboriginal 

0 Prehistoric 

0 Historic 

0 Agriculture 

~ Architecture 

0 Art 

0 Commerce 

0 Communications 

0 Conservation 

Is· ATEMENT OF siGN I FICANCE 

0 Education 

0 Engineering 

0 Industry 

0 Invention 

0 landscape 

Architecture 

0 Literature 

0 Military 

0 Music 

0 18th Century 

!XI 19th Century 

0 Political 

lKJ Religion/ Phi -

losophy 

0 Science 

0 Sculpture 

0 Socia 1/Human-

itarion 

0 Theater 

0 Transportation 

0 20th Century 

0 Urban Planning 

0 Other (Specify) 

With the foundation finished in 1866 and the building 
fully completed in 1870, Tr inity Episcopal Church of 
Pine Bluff is the oldest Episcopal Church building in 
Arkansas. Religious services have been continually 
conducted since Christmas Day, 1870. 

In 1838 Arkansas was added to the extensive Episcopal 
missionary field which covered several states and ter­
ritories. Many different clergymen served the unorganized 
congregation of Pine Bluff Episcopalians until March 25, 
1860, when Reverend Robert Trimble arrived from Kentucky 
to establish St. John's Parish. Before Reverend Trimble 
left to serve hpe Confederacy as a chaplain for the First 
Arkansas Regiment, he had led in raising more than $4,000 
to be used to construct a church building. 

Late in 1860 Reverend Trimble visited Episcopal head­
quarters in New York for permission, advice and assistance 
in building a church in Arkansas. In response to this 
appeal Trinity Parish in New York provided valuable ar­
chitectural suggestions, along with generous financial 
assistance. In appreciation St. John's Congregation 
changed its name to Trinity Church. 

The foundation was begun before the outbreak of the Civil 
war; however, all construction efforts and worship ser­
vices ceased from 1862 until 1865. At that time the 
church was reorganized, services reestablished, and in­
terest in a church building renewed. In 1866 the 
foundation was completed and the granite cornerstone 
laid and later confirmed in a traditional Masonic 
ceremony. A square cavity in the cornerstone was filled 
with several objects, .including a Bible, newspapers of 
the day, membership lists, and coins. Unfortunately, 
when the cornerstone was uncovered in 1971, only the 
coins remained intact with all the papers having dis­
integrated. 
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of Central Arkansas. Chicago: Goodspeed Publishing 
Company, 1889. 

Jacob Brurnp Lodge, Free and Accepted Masons. Minutes of the 
Meeting, December 27, 1866. (Typewritten.) 

McGaughy, James P. "A History of Trinity Episcopal Church," 
Pine Bluff, 1972. (Photocopied.) 

McGaughy, James P. "Trinity Episcopal Church Book of Remem­
brance," Pine Bluff, 1970. (Photocopied.) 

Pine Bluff Dai Gr ic, May 1912. 
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8. Significance (Continued - Page 2) 

STATE 

Arkansas 
COUNTY 

Jefferson 

Though Trinity Church was the scene of a fashionable wed­
ding in 1868, the first worship servlce in the completed 
church was not held until Christmas Day, 1870. It was 
consecrated on May 24, 1871. For over a century this 
church building has been the scene of many events of 
religious, social and community importance. The beautiful 
stained glass windows, each placed in memory of a nineteenth 
century individual, attest to the significant membership 
rolls of the church. 

Several of Arkansas' early leading citizens were actively 
involved in the affairs of Trinity Church. Judge Samuel 
Calhoun Roane was a circuit judge and president of the first 
Arkansas Senate. Judge and Mrs. Joseph w. Bocage, whose 
home is now on the National Register of Historic Places, 
were pioneer settlers; their 1840 wedding was the first 
Episcopal marriage ceremony in Arkansas. While Colonel 
Marcus Lafayette Bell served with distinction in the 
Confederate army, his wife, Juliet Roane Bell, stayed in 
Pine Bluff to cooperate with the use of their large home 
as a hospital and as a Confederate troop headquarters. 
Following the war Colonel Bell and Judge Bocage together 
entered the contracting business ' and constructed Trinity 
Church. 

Architectural~y, Trinity Church is significant as one of 
the first and few examples of simple Gothic architecture 
in Arkansas. Except for the early addition of the vestibule 
entrance and bell tower, the church exterior remains the 
same as when it was first constructed . Other than the 
sculptured altar of white Carrara marble installed in 1931, 
the most significant furnishings in the interior of the 
church were added in the late nineteenth century . 

Trinity Episcopal Church is significant because it is the 
first Episcopal church building in Arkansas, because of 
the important role its members played in making nineteenth 
century Arkansas history, and because of its simple Gothic 
architecture. 
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Streets 
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Pine Bluff 
STATE : 

SOURCE : 

TO BE INCLUOEO ON ALL MAPS 

1. Property broundories where required. 

2. North arrow . 
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